THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Master-in-Equity

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2018-001238

Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc. and Regime Solutions, LLC,Respondents,

v.

Devery A. Hale and Tina T. Hale,Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
(803) 943-4529

Brian L. Boger
THE LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN L. BOGER
1331 Elmwood Ave., Ste. 210
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 525-2880

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

RECEIVED
MAR 25 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in adopting the debt method, rather than the equity method, to determine whether the sale price at a foreclosure sale in which a senior lien is not extinguished shocks the conscience of the Court.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding Petitioners' equity argument unpreserved and, if so, whether the sale should alternatively be set aside under equitable principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a motion to set aside the judicial sale of Petitioners Devery A. Hale and Tina T. Hale's home after the foreclosure of a \$500.00 homeowners' association lien. If the Court of Appeals' opinion stands, the Hales and their children will lose their home over \$500.00 in homeowners' association dues and remain legally obligated to satisfy the mortgage on a home they can no longer occupy.

In 1998 the Hales purchased and built their home with a note and mortgage for \$104,250.00. (App. pp. 113, 132). They still live in the home with their children. (App. p. 132). Their home is subject to dues and assessments from Respondent Winrose Homeowners' Association. Mrs. Hale is approximately 52-years-old and works as a dental assistant. (App. pp. 132, 166). Mr. Hale works in the state prison system. (App. p. 166). The Hales never missed a mortgage payment in over seventeen years and continue to make the payments. (App. pp. 132, 143 lns. 2-4).

On February 11, 2014, Respondent Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc., filed an action for foreclosure against the Hales. (App. p. 90). The basis of the foreclosure action was a \$500.00 dues payment, and the Complaint sought "\$566.41 in principal, late fees, interest, and other charges." (App. pp. 92, 100-01). The Hales did not answer or appear. Mrs. Hale stated that when she received service of the lawsuit, she "put the papers in a drawer and forgot about them."

(App. p. 133). She later “received a bill from the HOA asking for \$250.00” which she paid “without a problem.” *Id.*

On April 3, 2014, the Circuit Court referred the foreclosure to the Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity. (App. p. 86). On July 21, 2014, the Master entered a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale for a total indebtedness of \$2,898.67, which included the \$500.00 dues debt, \$80.87 in interest, \$542.80 in costs, a \$2,025.00 attorney’s fee, and a \$250.00 credit for the payment from the Hales. (App. p. 92). Given the \$250.00 credit, by the time the Master entered an order foreclosing on their home and ordering its judicial sale, the Hales principal debt totaled \$250.00. The cost to advertise the foreclosure sale—\$382.50—exceeded the principal debt. (App. p. 111).

The Order of sale specified that the property “is subject to a senior mortgage held by Nationsbanc Mortgage Corporation recorded in Book R64 at Page 617.” (App. p. 94). On August 4, 2014, Respondent Regime Solutions, LLC, purchased the property at a public auction for \$3,036.00. (App. p. 176). On September 16, 2014, Regime Solutions filed a rule to show cause to evict the Hales and their children from the home. (App. pp. 105-07, 133).

On November 4, 2014, the Hales filed a Motion to Vacate Sale. (App. pp. 113-16). Along with the Motion, the Hales submitted a \$128,000.00 property appraisal. (App. pp. 117-29). The parties agree the property value is \$128,000.00. (App. p. 169 lns. 15-18). The Hales argued the Court should set aside the sale because the sale price is so grossly inadequate that it shocks the conscience. (App. p. 114). An issue in this case is what constitutes the sale price—the actual bid price paid or an effective sale price of the bid price plus the outstanding mortgage balance.

At a January 16, 2015 hearing, the Master continued the rule to show cause and the motion to vacate sale “because of an administrative issue in [his] office” that resulted in the case not

appearing on the docket. (App. p. 142). However, counsel and the Master discussed the case on the record. Counsel for Regime Solutions stated it “believe[s] there is significant equity in the property and that they stand to profit from getting the property and paying the mortgage off.” (App. p. 144 lns. 12-14). When the Master asked: “They plan to assume the mortgage?”, counsel answered, “They are prepared to pay the mortgage off once they have quiet title to the property.” (App. p. 144 lns. 15-18). The Hales offered \$9,000.00 to settle the matter but Regime Solutions rejected the offer and demanded \$35,000.00. (App. pp. 154-55, 158).

On February 6, 2015, the Master heard the motions. (App. p. 147). The Hales presented an affidavit and evidence showing an outstanding mortgage balance of \$66,004.00. (App. pp. 132, 135). The Hales argued that the sale price of \$3,036.00 shocks the conscience because it is only 4.8% of the equity in the home. (App. pp. 164-65). This method of determining whether the sale price shocks the conscience is referred to as the “equity method”.¹ Using the equity method, the court divides the actual sale price by the equity in the home (the outstanding mortgage balance subtracted from the property value). In this case that is a \$3,036.00 sale price divided by \$61,996.00 equity in the home (the \$66,004.00 outstanding mortgage balance subtracted from the \$128,000.00 home value), resulting in a sale price that is 4.8% of the equity. (App. p. 31).

Respondents argued the Court should use the “debt method”. (App. pp. 156-57). Using the debt method, the Court calculates an “effective” sale price by adding the outstanding mortgage balance to the sale price and then compares that amount to the home’s value. In this case there is

¹ The Hales also argued for use of the sale price divided by the property value but that calculation is not at issue in the appeal. (App. pp. 164-65). Using the property value, the court divides the \$3,036.00 sale price by the \$128,000.00 appraisal value, resulting in a sale price that is 2.37% of the home’s value. (App. p. 114).

an effective sale price of \$69,040.00 (\$3,036.00 plus \$66,004.00) divided by \$128,000.00 home value, resulting in a sale price that is 54% of the home's value.

In addition to the inadequate sale price, the Hales also argued the Master should vacate the sale for equitable reasons. (App. p. 113-14, 165-66). They argued the “Court has the ability in its gavel to do equity where perhaps equity should be done”, Regime Solutions was “unreasonable in negotiations”, and the Hales are “hard-working people” who “deserve this home” and are “not behind on their [mortgage] payments” to the bank. (App. pp. 165-66). The Hales also argued that “we need to think about people losing their homes on homeowners association dues.” (App. p. 165). The Hales offered to pay \$9,000.00 that day to settle the case. (App. p. 166).

The Master denied the Hale's motion to vacate the sale. (App. pp. 96-98). Rather than using the actual sale price, he used the debt method to calculate an “effective sales price” of \$69,040.00 (the \$3,036.00 bid plus the \$66,004.00 outstanding mortgage balance), and divided that by the \$128,000.00 property value to find the effective sale price is 54% of the property value and does not shock the conscience. (App. p. 97).

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, the Hales argued the Master should not have added the mortgage balance to the actual sale price to create an effective sale price because the correct calculation for determining if a successful bid shocks the conscience is the equity method—dividing the actual sale price by the equity in the property. The Hales also argued the foreclosing homeowners' association should investigate the equity value in the property and the Master should have vacated the sale under equitable principles. (App. pp. 25-37).

A majority of the Court of Appeals affirmed the Master's denial of the Hales' motion to vacate the sale, and Chief Judge Lockemy dissented. (App. pp. 1-11). The majority found no South Carolina case “expressly weighing the Equity and Debt Methods and declaring the preferred

method when accounting for a senior encumbrance.” (App. p. 5). It held that this Court’s opinion in *Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren*, 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012), “did not conclusively establish whether the Debt or Equity Method is the law in South Carolina” but yet still found that “[t]he take away from *Arrow Bonding* . . . is that we should consider the senior mortgage on this property.” (App. pp. 6-7). After discussing a Court of Appeals’ opinion that “appeared to utilize the Equity Method”, the Court nonetheless held “the Debt Method is the proper method for taking into account a senior encumbrance when deciding whether a successful bid shocks the conscience.” (App. pp. 6-7). As explanation for its holding, the Court of Appeals stated “the successful bidder is required to satisfy the senior encumbrance dollar for dollar prior to obtaining clear title”, “the Debt Method is consistent with our general policy of upholding properly conducted judicial sales because the Debt Method will result in fewer set asides”, and “Regime [Solutions] cannot truly access the equity in the property without satisfying the senior encumbrance because any future sale of the property would be subject to the senior encumbrance.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals then agreed with the Master that, applying the debt method, an effective bid of approximately 54% of the property’s fair market value did not shock the conscience. (App. p. 7). The Court found the Hales’ equity arguments unpreserved and did not address the merits. (App. p. 9).

Chief Judge Lockemy dissented in a separate opinion. He agreed that the mortgage debt should be taken into account but “would utilize the Equity Method as a better vehicle to determine whether a bid shocks the conscience” because it “seeks to encourage judicial sales while also being fair to property owners.” (App. p. 10). Chief Judge Lockemy noted “[t]he evidence in this case shows [the Hales] have continued to pay the mortgage for a home for which they have no title because they will suffer the consequences of default if they do not. The buyer has paid nothing.”

Id. He explained, “I do not believe it proper to give a judicial sale buyer credit for assuming a debt which it is not legally required to pay.” *Id.* Chief Judge Lockemy disagreed with the majority’s reliance on supposed fewer sales set aside under the debt method. He “suggest[ed] virtually no sales will be set aside under these circumstances. Buyers need only bid a minimal amount and if a property is encumbered by a mortgage of at least 10% of the home’s value, the bid is not subject to attack for being grossly inadequate.” (App. p. 11). He believes the debt method would “swallow” the rule “that judicial sales must produce bids that are not grossly inadequate.” *Id.*

The Hales filed a timely petition for rehearing resubmitting “the arguments from its briefs” and, specifically, arguing the Court of Appeals erred in adopting the debt method because a successful bidder is not legally responsible for the mortgage debt such that it only *paid* \$3,036.00 and *might* later pay the mortgage debt. (App. pp. 12-14). They argued using the equity method will not have a chilling effect on foreclosure sales because a potential bidder can easily calculate equity using publicly available information including the original mortgage amount and the tax value of the home. (App. p. 15). Finally, the Hales argued the Court erred in finding their equitable arguments unpreserved. (App. p. 16). The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing on June 1, 2018, and this Court granted the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari on February 1, 2019.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An action to foreclose a real estate mortgage is one in equity. In equity cases, we may find facts in accordance with our own view of the evidence.” *Dockside Assoc. v. Detyens*, 294 S.C. 86, 88, 362 S.E.2d 874, 875 (1987) (internal citation omitted). “Whether a judicial sale should be set aside is a matter within the discretion of the trial court.” *Investors Sav. Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 15, 17, 397 S.E.2d 780, 781 (Ct. App. 1990).

ARGUMENT

In the foreclosure sale of a *junior* lien on real property, the sale price used to determine if the bid amount shocks the conscience should be the actual price paid, and it should be compared to the equity in the property. This is the equity method, which differs from the calculation used in the foreclosure of a *senior* lien only in that it uses the home's equity rather than its fair market value in comparison to the actual bid amount. The Court of Appeals erred in adopting the debt method, which is based on a legal fiction that the bidder will pay off the outstanding mortgage balance when he is not legally obligated to do so and may still profit from the purchase in numerous ways without ever paying off the mortgage.

Alternatively, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the Hales' equitable arguments unpreserved. The Hales raised the arguments to the Master at the hearing on the motion to vacate the sale, and the Master ruled on them by denying the motion.

I. THE COURT SHOULD UTILIZE THE EQUITY METHOD TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE SALE PRICE AT A FORECLOSURE SALE OF A JUNIOR LIEN SHOCKS THE CONSCIENCE OF THE COURT TO VACATE THE SALE

Since at least 1915, our Courts have held that a judicial sale "fairly made" may be set aside for "inadequacy of price" when "it is so gross as to shock the conscience." *Bonham v. Cave*, 102 S.C. 308, 311, 86 S.E. 681, 682 (1915). When a Court determines whether the price at a sale to foreclose on a junior lien is so gross as to shock the conscience, it should use the actual price paid compared to the equity in the property for its analysis. "South Carolina has not established a bright line rule for what percentage the sale value must be with respect to the actual value in order to shock the conscience of the court." *Eastern Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders*, 373 S.C. 349, 359, 644 S.E.2d 802, 807 (Ct. App. 2007). "However, a search of South Carolina jurisprudence reveals only when judicial sales are for less than ten percent of a property's actual value, have our courts

consistently held the discrepancy to shock conscience of the court.”² *Id.* at 359, 644 S.E.2d at 807 (citing *Investors Sav. Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 15, 19, 397 S.E.2d 780, 782 (Ct. App. 1990) (citing *Polish Nat’l Alliance of Brooklyn, U.S.A. v. White Eagle Hall Co.*, 98 A.2d 400 (N.Y. App. Div. 1983))). While “it is the policy of the Courts to uphold judicial sales when regularly made”, “in proper cases the Court will set aside a judicial sale.” *Poole v. Jefferson Standard Life Ins. Co.*, 174 S.C. 150, 156, 177 S.E. 24, 26 (1934).

In cases for mortgage foreclosure of the *senior* lien, our appellate courts consistently compare the actual sale price at the judicial sale to the property value to determine if the sale price shocks the conscience of the court such that the sale should be set aside. *See Poole*, 174 S.C. at 158-61, 177 S.E. at 27-28 (comparing actual sale price of \$500.00 to property value of \$5,000.00 to determine price “wholly inadequate” and shocked the conscience); *Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Turner*, 378 S.C. 147, 149-50, 152, 662 S.E.2d 424, 425-26 (Ct. App. 2008) (comparing actual sale price of \$3,000.00 to property value of \$82,050.00 to find sufficient evidence supported special referee’s holding that “bid was so grossly inadequate as to shock the conscience”); *Eastern Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders*, 373 S.C. 349, 352-53, 644 S.E.2d 802, 804-05 (Ct. App. 2007) (comparing actual sale price of \$246,000.00 with property value of \$550,000.00 to find sales price not “so inadequate as to shock the conscience of the court”); *Investors Sav. Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 16, 19, 397 S.E.2d 780, 783 (Ct. App. 1990) (holding actual sale price of \$510.00 for property with a note in the amount \$48,340.00 “was so grossly inadequate so as to shock the conscience”).

When addressing motions to set aside a foreclosure sale for a *junior lien* where a senior lien will remain on the property, such as in this case, our appellate courts have used multiple

² Respondents do not challenge the use of 10% to determine whether a sale price shocks the conscience. This Court has not addressed the use of 10% but the parties and the Master accepted it as controlling law.

calculation methods. In *Fed. Nat'l Mortgage Ass'n v. Brooks*, 304 S.C. 506, 405 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals affirmed a master's decision to set aside a judicial sale based on irregularities but the Court discussed the adequacy of the sale price because "disparity between the accepted bid and the fair value of the property" is a "proper factor" for the court to consider "where there are other circumstances tending to show the sale should be set aside." *Id.* at 509-10, 405 S.E.2d at 606. The foreclosure involved a second mortgage, and the bid of \$875.00 was subject to a first mortgage balance of \$24,270.00. *Id.* at 508, 405 S.E.2d at 605. The bidder argued the bid price plus the mortgage balance totaled 49% of the property value (\$52,500.00) and, therefore, was adequate. *Id.* at 509, 405 S.E.2d at 605-06. The Court found: "It cannot be gainsaid that the payment by [the bidder] of \$875 for equity of over \$27,000 was adequate, albeit, it is not so grossly inadequate as to shock the conscience of the court." *Id.* at 510, 405 S.E.2d at 606. The Court compared the actual sale price (not an effective sale price that included the outstanding mortgage as argued by the bidder) to the equity in the property.

In *Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren*, 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012), this Court affirmed an order denying a motion to set aside a judgment execution sale. Warren acted as a surety for bonds that someone forfeited. *Id.* at 604-05, 732 S.E.2d at 623. The bond company got a judgment against Warren and then filed for foreclosure of the judgment. *Id.* at 605, 732 S.E.2d at 623. Warren defaulted, and the bond company successfully bid \$2,500.00 on Warren's thirteen real properties to satisfy a \$7,693.31 debt. *Id.* Warren moved to set aside the sale based on an inadequate sale price because the tax assessment records showed a combined property value of \$263,121.00. *Id.* at 606, 732 S.E.2d at 623. Rather than comparing the \$2,500.00 sale price to the property value, the master added the outstanding mortgages (\$88,000.00) and tax liens (\$12,000.00) for a newly calculated sales price of \$102,500.00 and compared that to the property

value, finding a 39% figure did not shock the court's conscience. *Id.* at 606, 732 S.E.2d at 624. On appeal, Warren argued "the Master erred in not judging inadequacy by directly comparing the sales price to the properties' value, without considering mortgages or liens." *Id.* at 607, 732 S.E.2d at 624. This Court disagreed "[u]nder the circumstances of [the] case", explaining that "[i]n a judgment execution sale such as this, [] the buyer takes the property subject to the mortgage as well as other liens." *Id.* at 607, 732 S.E.2d at 624. This Court found Warren failed to show gross inadequacy of the sale price because "the record is devoid of evidence of the true value of the properties." *Id.* at 608, 732 S.E.2d at 624.

Significantly, the Court made a point of noting that "[t]he propriety of this method of calculating value is not challenged on appeal", thus leaving open the issue of whether adding liens to the sale price is a proper method to determine whether to set aside the sale. *Id.* at 606 n.5, 732 S.E.2d at 624 n.5. The Court did not hold the calculation method used in *Arrow Bonding* is the only calculation to be used but simply found the master did not abuse his discretion. *Id.* at 607, 732 S.E.2d at 624. Therefore *Arrow Bonding* does not stand for the proposition that this State exclusively uses the debt method, and the Court of Appeals erred in adopting it. In *Arrow Bonding*, the lower court used the debt method and the appellant argued not for the equity method but for a direct comparison of the sale price and the property value without taking into account mortgages and liens. In this case, the Hales argue for the equity method, which does take mortgages and liens into account by comparing the actual sale price to the equity in the property. This Court did not consider the equity method in *Arrow Bonding*.

The most recent appellate decision on a motion to set aside a sale for a grossly inadequate sale price does not address the issue in this case. *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Ashton*, 410

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