THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APR 25 2019

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Hon. Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: Case No. 2018-001238

Winrose Homeowners' Association, Inc. and Regime Solutions, LLC.....Respondents,

v.

Devery A. Hale and Tina T. Hale.....Petitioners.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS REGIME SOLUTIONS, LLC

Eric C. Hale  
Elias Fain  
CLARKSON & HALE, LLC  
P.O. Box 287  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 250-5252  
Attorneys for Respondents

**

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

### ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the Debt Method to the case at issue. The Debt Method is the more appropriate and practical approach to determine whether or not a bid price shocks the conscience in a junior lien foreclosure. The application was after of the Debt Method was not an abuse of discretion considering the dearth of jurisprudence on the topic and the Master’s thoughtful analysis and the confirmation of the same by the Court of Appeals.

Further, the Court of Appeals should not be overturned as to their opinion on the preservation of the Petitioners’ equitable arguments. These were not properly raised nor ruled upon. Alternatively, the Petitioners would ask this court to grant them equitable

relief; but for their own actions and negligence they would not be in the situation at hand. As the petitioners point out: “He who seeks equity must do equity.”

**I. THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DECISIONS OF BOTH THE TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS IN APPLYING THE DEBT METHOD TO JUNIOR LIEN FORECLOSURE “SHOCK THE CONSCIENCE” ANALYSIS.**

South Carolina has not established a bright line rule for what percentage the sale price must be with respect to the actual value in order to shock the conscience of the court. *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 71, 762 S.E.2d 729, 734 (Ct. App., 2014). “However, a search of South Carolina jurisprudence reveals only when judicial sales are for less than ten percent of a property’s actual value, have our courts consistently held the discrepancy to shock conscience of the court.” *Id.* Although the adequacy of a bid in the exact circumstances of this case has not been addressed by the appellate courts of this State, Respondent contends this Court has already addressed a closely analogous situation and one that is controlling in this case. *Arrow Bonding Co. v. Warren*, 399 S.C. 603, 732 S.E.2d 622 (2012).

In *Arrow* the Appellant, Warren, appealed the denial of his Motion to Set Aside Sale. *Id.* Respondent, Arrow Bonding Company, obtained a \$5,120.00 judgment against Warren. Respondent brought an action to foreclose its judgment lien as against a number of properties owned by Warren, which Warren did not answer, and the clerk granted Respondent’s motion, ordering entry of the default against Warren, and referring the matter to the Master-in-Equity for a judicial sale. *Id.* The Master issued a deed to Respondent, who was the successful bidder on all of Warren's properties. *Id.* Warren filed

a Motion to Set Aside the Sale, which the Master-in-Equity denied. *Id.* On appeal, this Court concluded that the Master-in-Equity did not err in refusing to set aside the sale. *Id.*

There are two significant distinctions in the *Arrow* case that are particularly applicable to the instant case: (1) the calculation employed by the Master in determining whether the selling price was grossly inadequate; and (2) the distinction the Court drew between adequacy of sales price in senior mortgage foreclosure sales as opposed to other sales where the buyer takes the property subject to mortgage as well as other liens. The Master found that tax assessment records submitted by Warren reflected a combined value of the foreclosed properties of \$263,121 and that such records were sufficient to establish the value of the properties sold. *Id.*, 399 S.C. at 606. Although the Master noted the sale price of \$2,500 when compared to the \$263,121 assessed value of the property would normally shock the conscience, the Master went on to find that there existed mortgage liens totaling more than \$88,000 and a federal tax lien in excess of \$12,000 which should be considered in determining the effective sales price paid by the buyer. *Id.* Since the properties sold remained encumbered by the mortgages and the tax lien, the Master added \$100,000 to the sales price for a total of \$102,500 and concluded that the effective sales price of \$102,500 represented about 39%, which did not justify setting aside the sale. Although Warren argued on appeal that the Master erred in not judging inadequacy of sale price by comparing the sales price to the properties' value, without considering mortgages or liens, citing *Investors Savings Bank v. Phelps*, 303 S.C. 15, 397 S.E.2d 780 (Ct.App.1990), and *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Turner*, 378 S.C. 147, 662 S.E.2d 424 (2008), this Court disagreed and concluded that in a sale where the buyer takes property subject

to mortgage and other liens the Master properly considered the amount of mortgages and liens in determining the true value of the property to the buyer at sale. *Id.*, 399 S.C. at 607. In so ruling, the Court specifically distinguished both *Phelps* and *Wells Fargo*:

In both *Phelps* and *Wells Fargo* the judicial sale was to foreclose a mortgage rather than a sale in execution of a judgment. The effect of a mortgage foreclosure sale is to remove the mortgage encumbrance from the property, and therefore the amount of the mortgage is a fair gauge of the property's value in the hands of the buyer. In a judgment execution sale such as this, however, the buyer takes the property subject to the mortgage as well as other liens. [citation omitted] The Master properly considered the amount of the mortgages and tax liens in determining the true value of the properties to the buyer at an execution sale.

*Id.* Accordingly, the Court concluded Warren did not meet his burden of showing an abuse of discretion in the Master's finding that the sale price was not so grossly inadequate as to shock the conscience.

Similarly, in the present action Petitioners appealed the denial of their Motion to Set Aside Sale based upon the alleged error of the Master to consider the inadequacy of sale price by comparing the sales price to the properties' value, without considering mortgages or liens. As in *Arrow*, the Master in the instant case found that evidence submitted by the parties reflected a property value of \$128,000. (App. pp. 97). Likewise, the Master in the instant case went on to find that there exists a mortgage lien totaling \$66,004. *Id.* Since the property sold remained encumbered by the mortgage, the Master added \$66,004 to the sales price of \$3,036 and concluded that the effective sales price of

\$69,040 represented about 54% of the property's value, which did not justify setting aside the sale. (App pp. 96-8).

The Petitioners point to another South Carolina case concerning bid price adequacy and ignore the guidance that may be gleaned from opinion. *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729 (Ct. App., 2014). In *Bloody Point*, the trial court determined that the buyer had paid an effective sales price of \$11,593.20 for the property, a figure derived from the amount of the buyer's bid of \$8,800 plus "\$2,793 in taxes and fees unpaid by Appellants" and therefore added to the sale price. *Id.*, 762 S.E.2d at 731. This addition of taxes and fees to the sales price was implicitly adopted by the *Bloody Point* Court in its determination that the Respondents purchased the property for \$11,593.20 and that the "master applied the correct legal standard in making his determination." *Id.*, 762 S.E.2d at 734. This demonstrates a history in South Carolina law to take outstanding debts into account of effective bid prices.

A point that cannot be overlooked is that the above calculation as presented to the Master occurred after the sale of the property. If the Petitioners had participated in the course of this matter, they would have been able to present evidence to the Master to potentially set a bid price more agreeable to them. At the time of the sale the Master and any would be bidders only had before them what was presented by the Homeowner's Association and in the public record. This is of no fault of the HOA, Respondent, or the Master. The Equity Method is unworkable in a post-sale "shocks the conscience" analysis. An equity inquiry with the involvement of a diligent defendant could, however, offer a viable option for protection, pre-sale, of the defendant's equity. In this way, a diligent

defendant could offer, pre-sale, evidence of equity and the Master could set a bid that would withstand, in the Master's discretion a subsequent "shocks the conscience" challenge. However, such an inquiry has extremely limited application. Seldom will a defendant homeowner have so significant an equity position that the bid price plus outstanding liens would shock the conscience. The practical reason for such limited application is the ability of the defendant homeowner so situated to refinance or sell the home.

The Equity Method has a freezing effect at worst and is unworkable at best. Petitioners, in defending the Equity Method, erroneously attribute certain knowledge to a bidder at a sale. Further, they misunderstand the nature of a bank – 3<sup>rd</sup> party relationship and how equity is recovered in a property. Petitioners contend "A Bidder Can Easily Calculate the Equity in the Property." (Brief of Petitioners, p. 15). The only party to a junior lien foreclosure action with that knowledge would be the foreclosed homeowner. Mortgage Notes are not recorded as part of real estate transactions in South Carolina. While the Mortgage or pledge of property as collateral is recorded the Note or obligation for repayment is not. The affected homeowner is the only party that has possession, or has the ability to possess, such information. There are a host of statutes prohibiting the disclosure of non-public personal information to anyone other than the borrower or their designee: *Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Services Modernization Act* (GLB Act), Title V of the Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999, Pub. L. No. 106-102, 113 Stat. 1338 (Nov. 12, 1999) (codified at 15 U.S.C. §§ 6801, 6809, 6821, and 6827; 16 C.F.R. part 313 (implementing privacy rules pursuant to GLB Act); *Fair Debt Collections Practices Act*

(FDCPA) Pub. L. 95-109; 91 Stat. 874, September 20, 1977 (and as subsequently amended) (codified as 15 U.S.C. § 1692 –1692p).

Petitioners argue that the terms of the mortgage should give a bidder a rough estimate of equity in a property. This very suggestion ignores the reality of what is knowable by an innocent bidder at a foreclosure sale.

Information concerning the loan that could be acquired by the court, the foreclosing party, or the innocent purchaser for value is at best speculative. While the amount and duration of a mortgage is public record, one can only guess as to the status of the note that the mortgage secures. The interest percentage is not on a mortgage. The amount actually loaned is not on the mortgage- only the purchase price. It is quite possible the underlying loan is an interest only loan with a balloon payment in which the only equity would be presumptive appreciation in the value of the property- in no way a guarantee. The mortgagee could have borrowed in excess of the home sale price for renovation or addition. It is also possible that the loan instrument contemplates future advances or was modified by the lender at some time between the loan's origination and the present action. Loan modifications are also not publicly available.

Petitioners claim "The mortgage states its amount, the interest rate and the minimum monthly payment." (Brief of Petitioners, p. 15). Again, this underscores a misunderstanding on the dichotomy of a note and mortgage. The mortgage at issue, available for viewing at the Richland County Registrar of Deeds, does not show the interest rate and minimum monthly payments, and most, if any, do not. These are present on the

note and notes are not public record. The preceding also illuminates Petitioners' error in drawing parallels to senior lien foreclosures and junior lien foreclosures. Senior lien foreclosures almost always are initiated by the entity that is both the holder of the note and the beneficiary of the mortgage. Therefore, such entity has perfect knowledge of the transactional history of the note. The reality is that a determination of equity without the provision of information by the affected homeowner is speculation and conjecture. In fact, the *Arrow* Court stated that there was no authority which requires or permits the trial court to conduct a title search, discover liens, determine the value of property and then calculate an adequate sale price. 399 S.C. 603, 608, 732 S.E.2d 622, 625 (2012).

Moreover, only the defendant homeowner knows with any certainty the value of the home. A termite infestation is not public record. Nor is a collapsing foundation. Nor can a bidder order an inspection and appraisal. Only the homeowner has such knowledge or access to this information.

Using equity in determining the adequacy of a bid is not supported by any precedent in this State, represents an unworkable calculation, and improperly shifts the burden upon the trial court, the foreclosing party or the innocent purchaser for value to divine such a calculation. Therefore, this Court should reject the notion that equity should be considered in determining the adequacy of a bid at a judicial sale, and uphold the Master and Court of Appeals' implementation of the Debt Method.

The Petitioners repeatedly make the argument that Respondent will have received a windfall in the amount of the equity. Petitioners also make speculative arguments as to Respondent's motivations.

First, any equity in a home is not immediately available to the successful bidder at a junior lien foreclosure. Petitioners make it seem that upon the purchase of the property, Respondent will be awarded cash equivalents of the equity in the property. However, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, “Regime cannot truly access the equity in the property without satisfying the senior encumbrance because any future sale of the property would be subject to the senior encumbrance.” (App. pp. 7). Respondent would have to pay the full amount of the outstanding loan to be able to have clear title to the property. This would also have a beneficial side affect to the Petitioners, as their note would be satisfied and they would no longer be responsible to the mortgagor. Respondent must incur legal fees, delays in possession, taxes, homeowners’ association fees and numerous other expense all for the hope of recovering any return on their investment. These factors are priced into a bidder’s consideration at the time of the sale.

Secondly, Petitioners’ arguments concerning Respondents’ motivations and/or actions concerning their other properties has not been preserved, is not relevant to the case at hand, and appears for the first time in the Brief of Appellants to this Court.

## **II. THE PETITIONERS’ EQUITABLE ARGUMENTS WERE NOT PROPERLY RAISED AND ARE THEREFORE UNPRESERVED.**

There are four requirements for preserving issues at trial for appellate review: the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the lower court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a time manner and (4) raised to the lower court with sufficient specificity. *S.C Dep’t of Transp. V. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 327 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007).

Petitioners presented their equitable arguments for the first time in their brief to the Court of Appeals. (Appx p. 69-85). Counsel for Petitioners had the opportunity to request that the master-in-equity grant them relief based on equitable maxims in his motion to set aside the judgment, at the motion hearing for same, and by way of a Rule 59 motion to reconsider. However, at no time were these equity requests made. Instead, the first appearance of equitable maxims was in the Petitioners' brief to the Court of Appeals. (Appx p.77-82). They point to their SCRCP Rule 60 (b)(5) motion as proof of a request for equitable relief. Rule 60(b)(5) contemplates, inter alia, that a court may relieve a party from judgment if "it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application". SCRCP Rule 60(b)(5). While their motion states that it is seeking relief under Rule 60(b)(5) SCRCP, the motion asked the trial court to set aside the sale, a standard separate from vacating a judgment. Setting aside a sale is considered under a standard set forth in various SC Appellate decisions. Counsel for Petitioners explained that his clients were willing to pay the homeowner's association lien if the sale were set aside. (Appx p.164-66). At no time did Petitioners contest the judgment, and this is precisely why the trial court did not rule on that issue. There was no 60(b)(5) analysis by counsel at the motion hearing or by the trial court in its Order.

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